
se 
SIXTH COMMITTEE 

23rd meeting 
held on 

Tuesday, 29 October 1991 
at. 10 a.m. 

Official Records New York 

SUMMARY RECORD OF THE 23rd MEETING 

Chairman: Mr. AFONSO (Mozambique) 

later: Mr. TETLF (Canada) 

CONTENTS 

AGENDA ITEM 128: REPORT 09 THE INTERNATIONAL LAW COMMISSION ON THE WORK OF 
ITS FORTY-THIRD SESSION (continued) 

AGENDA ITEM 125: MEASURES TO PREVENT INTERNATIONAL TERRORISM WHICH ENDANGERS 
OR TAKES INNOCENT HUMAN LIVES OR JEOPARDIZES FUNDAMENTAL FREEDOMS AND STUDY OF 
THE UNDERLYING CAUSES OF THOSE FORMS OF TERRORISM AND ACTS OF VIOLENCE WHICH 
LIE IN MISERY, FRUSTRATION, GRIEVANCE AND DESPAIR AND WHICH CAUSE SOME PEOPLE 
TO SACRIFICE HUMAN LIVES, INCLUDING THEIR OWN, IN AN ATTEMPT TO EFFECT RADICAL 
CHANGES 

(a) REPORT OF THE SECRETARY-GENERAL 

(b) CONVENING, UNDER THE AUSPICES OF THE UNITED NATIONS, OF AN 
INTERNATIONAL CONFERENCE TO DEFINE TERRORISM AND TO DIFFERENTIATE IT 
FROM THE STRUGGLE OF PEOPLES FOR NATIONAL LIBERATION 



I A/C,6/46/SR,23 
English 
Page 2 

led to order at 10.05 a.m. 

AGENDA ITEM 128: REPORT OF THE INTERNATIONAL LAW COMMISSION ON THE WORK OF 
ITS FORTY-THIRD SESSION ( m) (A/46/10 and A/46/405) 

1. Mr, Cm (Australia) said that since being proposed on first reading 
by the International Law Commission the draft articles on jurisdictional 
immunities of States and their property had undergone many specific changes, 
almost all of them for the better. For example, there was the inclusion of 
the component units of a federal State in the definition of “State” in 
article 2, paragraph 1, the preference for the term “commercial transactions” 
over “commercial contracts”, and many other verbal clarifications. The only 

. regrettable change was the deletion of the former draft article 16 dealing 
with fiscal matters. 

2. His delegation intended to refer only to issues of principle which might 
influence the subsequent handling of the topic by the Committee. It welcomed 
the addition of paragraph 3 in draft article 10, which made the basic point 
that the immunity of a State itself was not abrogated because a separate State 
corporation entered into a commercial transaction. The inclusion of a 
provision of that kind was important because misunderstanding on the point 
might prejudice the acceptantie of the draft articles as a whole. Article 10, 
paragraph 3, was without prejudice to the question of any independent 
liability of a State in cases where it acted in relation to the transactions 
of separate State corporations or entities, for example the liability of a 
State as a guarantor in relation to a commercial transaction of a separate 
entity. The paragraph stated a principle generally applicable in the area of 
State immunity which was not limited to the topic of commercial tranr\ctions. 

3. With regard to immunity from measures of constraint articles 18 and 19 
reprssented a step in the right direction, but it was not certain that they 
were detailed enough to cope with the various procedural and substantive 
problems which could arise. The draft articles dealt simultaneously with the 
issue of interim or pre-judgement enforcement and with the issue of final 
enforcement. Although the jurisdictional principles applicable to interim and 
final enforcement might be the same, the context was not the same. In 
particular, States could have a legitimate concern that their property might 
be the subject of pre-judgement attachment in cases where both the 
jurisdiction of the local Court and the merits of the case itself were 
Contested. 

4. That led to the related point t’?..-it, prior to jUdg8m8nt, there must be 
some presumption that a Stc.to ; co: --. subject to local jurisdiction would 
comply with the judgement of the court. On the other hand, once judgement on 
the merits had been given, a State’s immunity from execution must not be so 
extensive as to be Virtually complete. The requirement of a connection 
between the property and the claim, contained in article 18, paragraph 1 (c), 
was very vague. 

/ . . . 



A/C.6/4G/SH.23 
English 
Pago 3 

5. His delegation believed that more thou5 c needed to be given to the 
problem of execution, in order to ensure that measures of execution, and 
especially pre-judgement execution, were taken only when really necessary. 

6. It agreed with the delegations of Mexico and Poland that the draft 
articles should be given further consideration, for example by a working group 
of the Committee at its next session, before the matter was referred to a 
diplomatic ccnference. That would enhance the possibilities of a successful 
outcome, with respect not only to the adoption of a convention but also to its 
acceptance by the States before whose courts the issues arose most often. The 
draft articles formed a solid basis for the work both of the Committee and, it 
was to be hoped, of 3 future diplomatic conference. 

7. Mr. SUmOTv (Germany) said that the draft articles on jurisdictional 
immunities of States and their property prepared by the Commission constituted 
a suitable basis for the drafting of an international convention to be 
approved by a diplomatic conference, The discussion had centred on the 
question of whether the “purpose” or the “nature” of a transaction was the 
decisive factor in determining its “commercial” character. His delegation had 
always been in favour of the criterion of the nature of the contract. The 
wording of article 2, paragraph 2, made it plain that both in general and in 
principle the legal nature of a contract should be the only determinant of its 
commercial character. However, the Commission had retained the idea that 
purpose might be taken into account as a supplementary criterion. In the 
light of paragraph 26 of the commentary contained in the Commission’s report 
(A/46/10), the addition of that criterion might indeed offer a suitable basis 
for a generally acceptable compromise to be found ak the diplomatic 
conference. The final text of paragraph 2 might allow that the t;ompetent 
court, not the defendant State, might be free in certain cases to take 
governmental purpose into account as well, provided that it was the practice 
of the defendan: State to conclude such contracts for public ends. 

8. A useful clarification had been added to article 6 by requiring courts to 
determine gx off- the question of respect for the immunity of another 
State. The Commission had finally found a neutral title for part III, the old 
version of which had given rise to much controvers,y. The general rule on 
immunity was found in article 5, which asserted immunity except in cases whore 
States were subject to the provisions listed in part III, when immunity was 
not available. 

3. With regard to the immunity of States operating an independent 
enterprise, the topic dealt with in article 10, paragraph 3, the Commission 
had unfortunately not accepted the proposal made by tiermany in 1990. In 
accordance with the present text, a State setting up such entities without 
providing sufficient capital could secretly free itself from any risk. His 
delegation suggested once again that, as a minimum prerequisite for granting 
immunity, there must be transparency with regard to the capital resources of 
the State enterprise. 

/ . . . 



WC.61461SR.23 
English 
Page 4 

10. His delegation welcomed the fact that the Commission had followed the 
Special Rapporteur’s recommendation with reyard to article 16, which dealt 
with ships operated by a State. With the present wording the sole criterion 
for the granting of immunity was the non-commercial purpose of the operation 
at the time when the cause of action arose. 

11. The rule laid down in article 22, paragraph 2, that a State should be 
exempt from providing any security, even when acting as plaintiff, accorded an 
unwarranted privilege to States and was therefore not acceptable. The 
plaintiff State could institute proceedings without risk, whereas the 
defendant might face a considerable loss even when successful. Therefore, his 
delegation strongly supported the original proposal submitted by the Special 
Rapporteur that: paragraph 2 should be amended in such a way that at least the 
plaintiff State should be required to provide a security or bond. 

12. His delegation would have liked the Commission to address as well the 
intricate problem of a clause on settlement of disputes. The question of how 
to settle a dispute about the interpretation of the text was of crucial 
importance. 

A 
13. Hr. Tetu (Cmda) took #.e Cb.& . 

14. Mr..- (Caechoalovakia) said that at its forty-third session, the 
International Law Commission had completed in second reading the draft 
articles on jurisdictional immunities of States and their property. He wished 
to make a number of comments sn the articles examined by the Drafting 
Committee and, later, by the Commission, 

15. The content of article 10, paragraph 3, which accounted for the main bulk 
of commercial transactions engaged in under the auspices of States, had not 
given rise to insuperable differences of opinion. Some members had attributed 
to States the commercial transactions engaged in by a State enterprise or 
other similar entity, arguing that in such cases the State did not enjoy 
jurisdictional immunity2 others had proceeded from the premise that State 
enterprises, once they had a legal personality distinct from that of the 
State, were acting on their own behalf. That had always been the position of 
his delegation, which, in describing Czechoslovak practice in that area, had 
consistently stressed the independent legal personality of Czechoslovak State 
enterprises, clearly indicating that Czechoslovakia had never invoked the 
immunity of its State enterprises before the courts of other States. 

16. His delegation therefore supported the provision contained in article 10, 
paragraph 3, according to which the immunity enjoyed by a State was not to be 
affected with regard to a proceeding which related to a commercial transaction 
engaged in by a State enterprise or other similar entity which had an 
independent legal personality and was capable of acquiring, owning or 
possessing and disposing of property, 

/  .  I  .  

- 



A/C,6/46/SR.23 
Engl isl; 
Page 5 

17. The content of the above-mentioned provision could he deduced from the 
reasoning of the provisions of article 2, paragraph 1 (b) (iv). In fact, the 
provisions of that clause and of article 10, paragraph 3, complemented one 
another. Under article 2, paragraph 1 (b) (iv), the agencies or 
instrumentalities of the State and other entities would be included in the 
scope of the definition of the term “Stake” to the extent that they were 
entitled to perform acts in the exercise of the sovereign authority of the 
State. The distinguishing factor was one of function, to the exclusion of any 
other element, including the existence of an independent legal personality. 

18. Joint reading of article 10, paragraph 3, and article 2, 
paragraph 1 (b) (iv), raised the question of how to treat commercial 
transactions engaged in by entities established by the State when they did not 
have an independent legal. personality. In the view of his delegation, the 
only possible interpretation was that if the entity did not have an 
indepondont legal personality, the commercial transaction entered into by it 
must be regarded as if it were the commercial transaction of a State that was 
subject to the provisions of article 10, paragraph 1. 

19. His delegation could support the text of article 13, although it 
acknowledged the logic of the argument made against paragraph 2 (c), whose 
purpose was to preserve the immunity of the State in the event of a proceeding 
which related to a contract of employment when the employee had been neither a 
national nor a habitual resident, of the State of the forum at the time when 
the contract of employment had been concluded. His delegation associated 
itself with the opinion of the majority of States on that question. 

20. Article 12 on personal injuries and damage to property required in-depth 
analysis. The exception to the general rule of State immunity provided for in 
that article was limited to cases of death or illjury to the person, or damage 
to or loss of tangible property, caused by an act or omission which was 
alleged to be attributable to the other State, if the 7~t or omission had 
occurred in the territory of the State of the forum and if the author of tha 
act or omission had been present in that territory at the time of the act or 
omission. That was the only realistic approach that had a chance of being 
approved by the majority of States, 

21. His delegation had reservations about another aspect of the problem of 
injury to persons and damage to property, namely, the absence of a distinction 
between damage caused by acts jure_..gos.f!.onr& and acts jure irnnB&. Although 
in its commentary to article 12, the Commission recognized that in the case 
law of some States involving motor accidents, immunity had been maintained for 
act-s jurc .imperii but not for acts jure gostionis, it did not give any 
oxplanat on as to why it had departed from that norm, which had been confirmed 
by the pr;rct.ice of States. 

22. Article 13 on ownership, possession and use of property was one of the 
provisions of the draft that had been confirmed b.y the constant, uniform 
practice of the great majority of States. 



A/C,6/46/SR.23 
English 
Page 6 

23, With regard to the immovable property of a diplomatic mission, 
article 31, paragraph 1 (a), of the 196i Vienna Convention on Diplomatic 
R0latiOn6 eetablished that a diplomatic agent was to enjoy immunity for a real 
action relating to private immovable property situated in the territory of the 
receiving State when he held it on behalf of the sending State for the 
purposes of the mission. The immunities enjoyed by persons attached to 
missions were regarded in the final analysis as State immunities, because they 
belonged to the State. Such immunity for a real action was therefore covered 
by the provisions of article 3 of the draft. Furthermore, the Vienna 
Convention contained no provision explicitly relating to immunity for a real 
action aimed directly at the sending State if it owned the said property 
itself. For the drafters of the Vienna Convention, that case could have 
exceeded the scope of diplomatic law and of the Convention, but the draft must 
not disregard that problem and should instead contain an unequivocal provision 
in that regard. 

24. His delegation approved the new title of part III, which was neutral and 
overcame another conflict between the various doctrinal approaches. 

25. State immunity from measures of constraint, to which article 18, one of 
the fundamental provisions of the draft referred, could not be absolute 
either. Among the exceptions limiting its scope, the one contained in 
paragraph 1 (cl, which was based on a connection between the property and the 
object of the proceeding or the agency against which the proceeding had been 
directed, deserved special attention. 

26. The enumeration in article 19 of specific categories of property that 
could not be the subject of measures of constraint was another element of 
balance in the draft. 

27. With regard to part V of the draft, comprising miscellaneous provisions, 
his delegation agreed with the idea expressed in the Commission that 
exceptions to the obligation set forth in article 22, paragraph 2, to provide 
security should be limited to situations in which the State was in t:re 
position of plaintiff. 

28. The definition of the “State”, which included different elements, some of 
which could be endowed with their own legal personality and enjoy economic 
autonomy under domestic law, led to the problem raised by the term “State 
property” . As in the draft articles on State succession in respect of 

property, archives and State debt, the Commission was not proposing a 
definition of the term, but uplike in those articles, neither did it leave the 
matter to the domestic law of the State. Whild it was domestic law which 
first determined the status of State property, some international instruments 
had included provisions which defined tnat category more clearly, in 
particular the often cited General Assembly resolution 388/V/1950 on economic 
and financial provisions relative to Libya and resolution 53O/VI/1952 on 
Eritrea. However, international customary law had not established an 



A/C.6/46/SR.23 
English 
Page 7 

autonomous criterion for determining what constituted State property. The 
problem was aggravated by the complexity of defining the term “State”, since 
the various political subdivisions, agencies and instrumentalities included in 
the term by virtue of article 2, paragraph 1 (b), could have at their 
disposal property which fell into the category of public property rather than 
State property as such. The problem was further complicated in relation to 
agenc!.es, instrumentalities and *Inits which were considered as the State only 
in so far as they acted in exercise of the preroqatives of its governmental 
authority . He wor.dered to what extent their property was considered State 
property. 

29. That question among others should be carefully studied by Governments in 
order to arrive at a satisfactory solution at the diplomatic conference which 
his delegation was in favour of convening. 

30. Mr. PUI&,C;OcIm (France) said that the codification of the rules of 
international law on jurisdictional immunities of States and their property 
was of great theoretical and practical use. His coun\;ry had always encouraged 
th.lt effort and was pleased that the work of the International Law Commibsion 
on that item had been successfully completed. 

31. The proposed text was, on the whole, satisfactory as far as its 
principles were concerned, although some problems remained which could be 
explained by the complexity of the subject and the diversity of approaches to 
it accordjng to legal systems. There was no doubt, however, that on the basis 
of the Commission’s work, solutions acceptable to all States could be found 
which would represent significant progress in international law. 

37. Without undertaking an exhaustive analysis of the draft, he wished to 
review some of its major aspects. With regard to article 2, the accepted 
wording, while more satisfactory, was not fully convincing. In paragraph 1, 
he had doubts about the appropriateness of considering as a State the 
“constituent units of a federal State”, girren the wide variety of situations 
covered by that formula and the uncerteinties to which it could give rise. 
With regard to paragraph 2, while an effort had been made to arrive at an 
appropriate treatment of contracts which, although involving commercial 
t.rnnsactions, had specifically State-related purposes such as national defence 
and therefore should enjoy immunity, he doubted whether the wording adopted, 
which stated that the purpose should be “relevant in determining the 
non-commercial character of the contract”, covered that, situation clearly. 

33. He also wondered whether a rule ~7s C.JP~P~ ;I] n:; t.hnt c:r)nt.ain~~l in 
art i.cle 6, whereby a Stat.~ “shal 1 pnstlt-p t Il;lt i t :; (‘i)lIT t !: rletPtmine on t.hffiir 
own initiative that the immunity of t hn! ot 11~31 !;t ;lt ~11 i:: IPS~VJ(*~ PL?“, cc~r~ld he 
ndopted, given the evident co!nploxit y i\lllI :;r’t~:;i t i*:i t y I>[ t.hra cvi\llli\t.iorl of 
jurisdictional immunity. 

/ . . . 



j 

L A/C.6/46/SR.23 
1 

1 
English 
Page 8 

, 
I ( ML -E\hissochet..France) 

34, The drafting of article 11 took more fully into consideration the 
concerns expressed by France on several occasions and better preserved the 
balance between the protection of employees from other States, respect for the 
social legislation of the forum State and the free exercise of the 
governmental authority of the other State. On the whole, therefore, the text 
was acceptable. He was pleased that the Commission had adopted on second 
reading paragraph 2, subparagraph (a), which recognised State immunity if “the 
employee has been recruited to perform functions closely related to the 
exercise of governmental authority”, an unambiguous formulation. He also 
welcomed subparagraph (b), which took into account the practical reality in 
which it would be unacceptable for a court to impose upon a State the 
recruitment, renewal of employment or reinstatement of an individual which 
that State did not wish to have among its employees. 

35. Article 16, on the complex issue of rules governing ships owned or 
operated by n State, had been amended. Paragraph 1 retained the wording “the 
ship was used for other than government non-commercial purposes”, which had 
the advantage of reproducing the terms of the United Nations Convention on the 
Lnw of the Sea (art. 96). It was commendabre that paragraph 1 also referred 
strictly to the “use” of ships and no longer made reference, as before, to 
their intended user since it was appropriate to be concerneti only with the 
criterion of actual use of the ship, which was far less controversial than 
intended use. 

36. Despite the progress he had described, he still believed, however, that 
the comments and proposals he had made at the previous session remained 
valid. Coherence with the various instruments which served as a reference for 
the law of the sea should be maintained. Those instruments included the 
Geneva International Regime of Maritime Ports of 9 December 1923, the Brussels 
International Convention for the Unification of Certain Rules relating to the 
Immunity of State-owned Vessels, of 10 April 1926, and the Montego Bay 
Convention on the Law of the Sea of 10 December 1982, already cited. Those 
conventions offered a positive definition of the ships of a State which could 
enjoy jurisdictional immunity, by contrast with draft article 16, which 
offered a negative definition. In his opinion, it was preferable to start 
from the definition given in article 96 of the Convention of 1982 previously 
cited, and to include the provisions relating to such immunity not in the part 
on exceptions to State immunity, but in that on general principles. He also 
thought that the suggestions mentioned in the report of the International Law 
Commission (A/46/10) to include provisions on aircraft and space objects were 
very interesting and deserved further study. 

3’1. Turning to part IV of the draft, his r:nrrntry had always been reluctant to 
deal with immunity from enforcement in a text on jut.isdictional immunities, 
although it was not radically opposed t,o doing SO. Great care would continue 
t.0 be needed, because of the problems creat.ed by t.he diversity of legal 
sys terns, As the Commission said in its report, “it would be difficult, if not 
impossible to find a term which ccvers each and every pOS6ible method or 

/  * 0 P 



A/C.6/46/SR.23 
Eng1ish 
Page 51 

meaeure of constraint in all legal systems”. It was neceseary, however, to 
ensure that everyone assigned the same meaning t-o the adopted text. 

38. Article 19 lists.3 State property which “in particular”, “shall not be 
‘considered as property specifically in use or intended for use by the State 
for other than government non-commercial purposes”. The words “in particular” 
no doubt indicated that the listing was not exhaustive, which was A st;e~) 
forward, 

39. While France still had Borne concerns about the draft, it felt it was an 
important new step in international law. France would give favourable 
consideration to the convening of an international conference of 
plenipotentinries to negotiate a convention on that subject. 

40. Mr. mxa (Ireland) said that the ambitious targets which the Commission 
had set itself at the beginning of the f.ive-year term had been met. The drtrl t. 
articles on a11 the topics demonstrated the care invested in their 
preparation, and the commentaries were up to the standard expected from who 
Commission. 

41, State immunity was a classical subject. of international law, important: 
for both doctrinal and practical reasons, for it was concerned wit.h the 
interplay of two aspects of sovereignty - State personality ?nd Stat0 
jurisdiction. The rules applied when a State engaged in activities in t~hs 
territory of another State, and that overlappiny of the exercise of sove~eigt) 
functions by different States was obviously a potential source of confl.ict.. 

42, Both the codification and the progressive development of international 
law on the topic had had to be built more on State practice than on 
international legislation. Although some multilateral provisions did exist., 
mainly in the European Convention on State Immunity, which was a regional 
instrument, and almost incidentally in the 1926 Brussels Convention, the mnin 
sources were national legislation and judicial decisions and bilateral 
agreements. The Commission’s work had been to extract selectively from that 
material, including recent developments in the field. The draft articles 
represented a treatment of the topic which afforded the international 
community an opportunity to adopt rules that would be generally recognized. 

43. The main difficulty encountered by the Commission in its delibsrat.ionr; on 
the topic was the wide gap between two school!; of t.hought., 130th of them 
represented in the Commission and outside it, which favoured respect4 ve ly nn 
absolute and a restrictive approach to immunity, wit.h the second appt oath 
based on a distinction between acta jur-e irngerii ilhd acta jure gc:;t,iurris. 
Absolute immunity was the older and what m ighl-. PV~JII 1)~ (*a llerl ~.~IFI t I iidi t ion;\ 1 
approach. Howeve I-, his Government. fiTvourPr1 t.ho r’( 3:;t r i ~1. i VP apl)r r~i\r*h ;I!: TV i nq 
more appropriate in mods*.n circumstances It was nevertheless clear thnt. 
generally acceptable rules could not be devised by accepting totally t-he viewr; 
of one school. Changes in the geopolitical situation in recent- ynars hnd made 

-.--._ / . . . _ _ 



A1C.61461SR.23 
English 
Page 10 

possible a compromise which represented an erosion of the absolute f heory in 
favour of a qualified version of the restrictive theory, devoid of vagueness 
or extremism. 

44. The present draft articles identified clearly situations in which 
immunity did not apply, with the corollary that it applied absolutely in other 
cases. Those practical provisions had been reinforced and further clarified 
by including in article 2 a precisely drafted and detailed definition of a 
commercial transaction and by dealing in substantive articles with other 
significant factors such as the role cf State enterprises and the uses of 
ships. It could be sahd that the actual approach taken in the articles to the 
applicability to immunity was functional, and it should enhance their appeal 
to all Governments. 

45. Commenting on some of the amendments to the draft articles, he said that 
the arnal.gemat).on of tho earlier articles 2 and 3 into a single article 2 on 
use of terms was sensible and an ‘improvement. The inclusion of two new 
elements, i.e. the constituent elements of a federal State and other entities, 
in U-2 definition of a State contained in article 2, paragraph 1 (b), was also 
justified. 

46. His delegation welcomed the deletion from article 5, which stated the 
basic principle of imni....,cy, of the reference to the relevant rules of general 
international law included in square brackets in the version approved on first 
reading. 

47. It also welcomed the adoption of a neutral title for part III reflecting 
the pragmatic and functional approach taken by the draft articles in that 
part, in particular in the new paragraph 3 in article 10. 

48. Those favourable comments did not mean that his aovernment thought that 
the artll*les were without fault. However , !.t did believe that as a whole 
their thrust was in the right r’.lrection and that viable solutions to the most 
difficult problems had emerged. It therefore supported the Commission’s 
recommendation that an international conference should be convened in order to 
elaborate a convention on the topic. But it did not support the proposal of 
some delegat;ons that prior to the conference the draft articles should be 
considered by a working group of the Committee, for that would merely delay 
the adoption and entry into force of rules which would constitute a valuable 
addition to international law. 

49. Mr, ASTAPENKQ (Belarur;) said that the Commission’s report on the work of 
its latest session constituted a solid basis for detailed. constructive and 
fruitful discussion in the Committee nf the urgent juridical needs of the 
world commun’.ty. 

50. The positive changes on the political atmosphere had had a favourable 
impact on the Commission’s work, aqd there was no doubt that the mutually 
acceptable resolution of the complex legal questions considered by the 



A/C.6/46/SR.23 
Engl i sh 
Page 11 

Commission would enhance the role of international law and establish its 
primacy in the solution of the practical problems of relations between States, 
as well as helping to achieve the goals of the United Nations Decade of 
International Law. 

51. The Supreme Soviet of the Republic of Belarus had adopted a Declaration 
on Principles of Foreign Policy in which it confirmed the country’s commitment 
to the principles of the Charter of the United Nations and the Universal 
Declaration of Human Rights, as well as its undertaking to fulfil ell the 
obligations under international law arising out of the international treaties 
to which it was a prlrty . 

52. His delegation had followed with keen interest the Commission’s work on 
the topic of jurisdictional immunities of States and their property and was 
happy to note that the Commission had taken into account many of the proposals 
made by Belarus at various times, The Commission had succeeded in drafting a 
balanced and quite detailed document, on the basis of which suitable solutions 
could be found to the complex and thorny problems which arose in that area of 
State relations. 

53. The draft articles approved by the Commission were based on the concept 
of the absolute immunity of a State as expressed in the universally recognized 
principle pi in wum non w, which had been embodied in 
article 5. His delegation supported those members of the Commission who had 
been in favour of deleting from that article the reference to the relevant 
rules of general !.nternational law, because that had made it possible to 
define accurately the scope of application of the whole set of draft articles 
and had considerably increased its attractiveness for the further codification 
of international law. 

54. The draft articles contained a vexf satisfactory definition of a State, 
which inc:luded the constituent elements of a federal State conducting their 
external trade relations independently; they established the requirements for 
taking into account the specific features of the activity of different States 
when determining whether a contract or transaction was of a commercial nature: 
they t; tlucted the principle that State immunity was not only a right but also 
an obl lf;qt .ion: and they analysed in detail the consequences of the express 
consent of d State to exercise jurisdiction and of its participation in 
proceedings bc tore a court. 

55. Part III of the draft articles, concerning proceedings in which State 

immunity could not be invoked, was of great practical importance, especially 
Lhe provision which stated t-hat t;he immunit \r f I 0111 jr11 isdiction enjoyed by n 
State should not be affected with regard t 11 it pro~*eerlinq which related to a 
commercial transaction engaged in hy il St.;\t 0 f>rlt F!IIII i:;f? which hnr.1 i’lzi 
independent legal personality. That solut.inn would he very important for the 
development of stab1 3 economic relations between States and between their 

various enterprises. 



A/C. 6/46/SR. 23 
English 
Page 12 

56. Hie delegation also agreed with other exceptions to immunity of 
jurisdiction, particularly the one contained in article 16, which resolve? 011 
a residual basis the problems connected with exceptions in respect of ships 
owned or operated by a State. 

57, His delegation attached fundamental importance to the formulation or: the 
principle of the inadmissibility of measures of constraint in respect of a 
State. The limitation of immunity provided by article 18 could be accepted if 
it was borne in mind that the provision also established precisely and 
unambiguously the general rule that the authorities of one State could not 
take measures of constraint against another State and confirmed that such 
immunity from execution was totally independent of the jurisdictional immunity 
of States. In that connection hit; delegation supported the Commission’s 
decision to provide some protection for special categories of property, 
including in particular the property of the central bank or other monetury 
authority of the State. That seemed to be the only correct approach, because 
central banks were instruments of the sovereign power of States and therefore 
any activity exercised by them fell under the immunity from execution of court 
decisions. 

58. On the basis of the foregoing comments his delegation could draw the 
preliminary conclusion that the draft articles proposed by the Commission were 
a good basis for the further codification of international law and for the 
adoption by States of a final decision on the topic. It therefore supported 
the Commission’s recommendation that an international conference should be 
convened to examine the draft articles and conclude a convention on the topic. 

59. m. XAMAQA (Japan) said that the international community was undergoing a 
profound transition from confrontation to cooperation and that the Gulf ciisio 
had clearly shown that universal acceptance and respect for the rules of 
international law regulating the basic relations between States constituted an 
essential foundation for building a new peaceful and stable international 
order. Accordingly, the mission which had to be carried out for ths sake of 
the next generation was to promote the progressive development of 
international law. 

60, Furthermore, the increase in international trade and in technological 
developments was creating new needs and concerns which had to be addressed 
effectively so as to promote the rule of law in the internUcional community. 

61. In the past the Commission had played an import.ant role in the 
codification of international law by formulating a number of conventionn which 
formed the core of contemporary irlt.pt r1:rt.i otl;~.l Law. Howeve I’, E r’orn now I)II (.i~c! 
Commission would give parti.f:\l I i\Y at-t-writ ir)r~ t 0 ttifl prfqres give clevvel~prrwri~. of 

international law, i.e. one of it.s most impr>rtarlt. tasks would be to det.ermino 
how it might respond to the changing neecl:; OC t-.he rapidly evolviq 
international community. The Commission’s usefulness in the future would 
depend on tha extent to which it. managed to porforin that task successfully. 



A/C.6/46/SR.23 
English 
Page 13 

62. The proper Epproach to the progressive development of international law 
should be problem-oriented rather than ideoloqical, so that the final output 
reflected the actual world situation. His delegation expected that the 
Commission would respond appropriately to the new needs and concerns of the 
internativnsl community and would continue its efforts to establish an 
internationnl loqal order which would serve the cause of world peace and 
prosperity. The Commission’s programme of work in the future should be 
designed to expedite its deliberations on the remaining topics. In view of 
the strong demand for the establishment of legal rules regulating 
international liability for injurious consequences arising out of acts not 
prohibIted by international law, everything possible should be done to produce 
R document capable of winning broad acceptance. 

63. With regard to the selection of new topics for inclusion in the 
Commissicn’s long-t‘erm proqrammo of work, great care should be taken in 
determining whether a topic was of concrete concern to the international 
community and whether there was a reasonable prospect of achieving practical 
and qenerally acceptable results without any excessively theoretical 
discusnions. 

li4 . The question of the jurisdictional immunities of States and their 
property was of keen interest to his delegation, which thought that 
internationally uniform rules should be adopted on the topic as soon as 
posr;ible. The practice of States in the matter indicated that, while some 
continued to subscribe to the theory of absolute immunity, others thought that 
absolute or unlimited immunity should not be granted to a State when it; 
engaged increasingly in commercial activities in various fields. Consequently 
it would be difficult to claim that the international community held ‘3 unj.fied 
position on the issue. 

65. The text of the Commission’s draft articles on the topic contained two 
types of provision. The first confirmed the position that in principle States 
enjcyod immunity, while the second elaborated in concrete terms the scope and 
extent of the limits on State immunities. 

fiti. Turning to the key elements of the draCt art.icles he said that a two-step 
critt?rion was used to determine whether a transaction was of a commercial 
nature. The first step tested the nature of the transaction and the second 
tested its purpose. The aim was to ensure the appropriate application of 
immunity from jurisdiction to acts of developing States whose purpose was to 
pt-emote the development of their country ’ s economy. One of the key factors in 
1:hc? ex,mination Lf the draft. article!; was t.hr? way in which article 2, 
])ilt‘~\~~l‘~~)t1 2, Wit:; avaluRt.erl, for. t.tlP t~I.oVi :; iorl W.11: I~;\!;+xd 0II t-ht! must. impor.t.arlt. 

e I otn~nl.:; which were common to ~111 St i\t:t?:: tlr-!:pif (7 t tlci 1 (-li f ierent: pos i Lions, 

/ . . . 

- 



A/C,6/46/SR,23 

English 
Pnge 14 

( Mr,YsmP- ..J A&a?3 ) 

67. The text of the draft articles took into account the position of the 
countries concerned with respect to the .iuestion of State enterprises, For 
example, article 1.0, paragraph 3, established clearly that a State enterprise 
which ongaged in a commerical transaction was an entity independent of the 
State and subject to the same rules and liabilities as were applicable to a 
natural or juridical person. And article 2, paragraph 1 (b) (iv), allowed 
that there were some cases in which private enterprises, even though not 
governmental organizations, could perform acts in the exercise of the 
sovereign authority of the State as agencies or instrumentalities of the 
State. 

68. With regard to State immunity from measures of constraint, it must be 
borne in mind that there had previouoly been a tendency to consider that issue 
separately from the issue of immunity from jurisdiction, 80 that the two 
topics had develcpsd independently. Since there was a division of views even 
among those States which subscribed to the theory of restrictive immunity, 
caraful consideration must be given to the question of whether the provision 
war; really acceptable to all States. 

69. The practice of States with regard to jurisdictional immunities was not 
uniform, for every State had dealt with the issue differently by establishing 
its own laws or by basil?g its judgements on legal precedents. That tiituation 
unders,corod the need to codify the legal rules on the topic and demonstrated 
how difficult it was to produce a text acceptable to all. Consequently, in 
considering the appropriateness of convening an international conference of 
plenipotentiaries it was necessary first of all to ascertain the views of 
every State on the need to consolidate the international legal rules and at 
the same time to study the possibility o f drawing up a convention allowing all 
countries to agree on a text which reflected both the practice of the States 
subscribing to the principle of absolute immunity and the practice of the 
States supporting restrictive immunity, 

71. Mr.,...JAKQVID_ES (Cyprus) said that the Commission had achieved the goals 
which it had set for itself at the beginning of its term of office; it had 
concluded it6 consideration of the topic “Jurisdictional immunities of States 
and their property” by adopting the final version of a set of draft articles; 
it had provisionally adopted two sets of draft articles on two other topics in 
its proqramme of work, i.e. the draft Code of Crimes against the Peace and 
Security of Mankind, and the law of the non-navigational uses of international 
watercoursas. Furthermore, at its forty--first session the Commission had 
npprovecl the final version of the draft articles on the status of the 
dj.p.lomiltic ~aurie~ dncl t.hti clipl~mat.i(.~ 11179 1i0t accumpaniecl by a diplomatic 
courier and ol: the draft optional prr,tocol~ ttreret 0. In addition to those 
nchievements the Commission had made considerable progress on the topics of 
internntional liability for injurious consequences arising out of acts not 
prohibited by international law, relations between States and international 



A1C.61461SR.23 
English 
Page 15 

organisations, and State responsibility. The Commission’s programme of work 
had been made less burdensome by those achievements and advancer It was 
therefore to be hoped that it would conclude as early as possi’ the draft 
articles on the lmportant topic of State responsibility. 

72. The role of the Sixth Committee was to make general comments on the 
.Commission’s report and to give it guidance on legal and political matters. 

That was the Committee’s best contribution to the attainment of the objective 
of the codification and progressive development of international law, 

73. With respect to chapter II of the report, his delegation noted with 
satisfaction the adoption on second reading of the draft articles on 
jurisdictional immunities of Stated and their property. From the beginning, 
Cyprus had maintained that a pragmatic approach should be adopted and that 
doctrinal differences between the absolute and restrictive immunity theories 
should be avoided. That had, by and large, been achieved on the basis of 
State practice. His delegation supported the Commission’s recommendation on 
the convening of an international conference of plenipoteniaries to examine 
the draft articles and to conclude a convention on the sub;ect, without ruling 
out the possibility of the matter being considered by a working group. Hi0 

delegation hoped that the international conference would establish a legal 
mechanism for the settlement of disputes. 

74. With reference to chapter XII, his delegation welcomed the adoption on 
first reading of the draft articles on the law of the non-navigational uses of 
international watercourses. In that regard, it should be noted that Member 
States would be requested to submit their comments and observations on the 
draft articles by 1 January 1993. Referring to paragraph 35 of the report, 
his delegation expressed the hope that it would be possible to include a 
provision on the peaceful settlement of disputes during the subsequent 
consideration of the topic. 

75. With respect to chapter IV, his delegation believed that the adoption of 
the draft Code of Crimes against the Peace and Security of Mankind, whose 
essential elements were crimes, penalties and -jurisdiction, would discourage 
those seeking to commit such crimes and punish those who violated the 
provisions of the Code. While the Code should be comprehensive, its 
provisions should be precise and should encompass legally definable crimes in 
order to ensure the widest possible acceptability and effectiveness. 

76. The adoption on first reading of those draft articles marked a major step 
towards the progressive development of international law and constituted R 
highlight of the United Nations Decade of Intern.~tion;~l Law. Orir~e Governments 
had submitted their comments and obr:r!rvat.lonr. on t.hr! draft articles, the 

Commission would have t.o re-exrunine Gome aspectc of the text. It WOUld alG0 

be necessary to carry out additionnl work regarding the creation of 
internatiOnal criminal jurisdiction. Hi6 delegation had taken note of the 
work carried out by the Special Rapporteur and the Commission, as well as the 

/ . . . 



A/C,6/46/SR,23 
English 
Page 16 

impetus that the subject had received in other forums, such as the seminar 
held at Talloiree, France, in May 1991. A number of distinguished 
personalities, such as the Vice-Chancellor and Minister for Foreign Affairs of 
Germany, Mr. Hans-Dietrich Genscher, had also advocated the establishment of 
an international criminal court with jurisdiction in such cases as crimes 
against humanity, peace an8 the environment, genocide and war crimes, The 
Prime Minister of Trinidad and Tobago, Mr. Robineon, had proposed the 
establishment of an international criminal court with jurisdiction in the area 
of drug trafficking. In the light of those developments, his delegation was 
convinced that the time had come for the General Assembly to give a clear 
rlirective to that effect so that the Commission could proceed with en 
unambiguous mandate, 

77. With regard to draft article 5 of the draft Code of Crimes against the 
Peace and Security of Mankind, it wns important to bear in mind that the 
“prosecution of an individual for a crime against the peace and security of 
mankind does not relieve a State of any responsibility under international law 
for an act or omission attributable to it”. As pointed out in the commentary 
to draft article 5, even though “the Commission decided, at least at this 
stage, not to apply international criminal responsibility to States”, the 
draft article “leaves intact the international responsibility of the State”. 

78, Transfers of population under draft article 21 meant transfers “intended, 
for instance, to alter a territory’s demographic composition for political, 
racial, religious or other reasons, or transfers made in an attempt to uproot 
a people from their ancestral lands”. 

79. Moreover, the commentary to draft article 22 noted that “it is a crime to 
establish settlers in an occupied territory and to change the demographic 
composition of an occupied territory . . . Establishing settlers in an occup!ed 
territory constitutes a particularly serious misuse of power, especially since 
such an act could involve the disguised intent to annex the occupied 
territory. Changes to the demographic composition of an occupied territory 
seemed to the Commission to be such a serious act that it could echo the 
seriousness of gemcide”. 

80. With regard to chapter V, it should be recalled that the Special 
Rapporteur had invited the memb Pis of the Commission to consider the following 
issues under the topic “International liability for injurious consequences 
arising out of acts not prohibited by international law”; the title of the 
topic, nature of the instrument., scope of the topic, principles relevant to 
the topic, prevention of transboundary harm, liability for transboundary harm 
and the issue of harm to t.he “global commons”. The! consideration of the 
nature of the instrrlment could be postponed until coherent, reasonable, 
practical and politically acceptable draft articles had been developed. With 
regard to the title of the topic, the word “acts” should be replaced by the 
word “activities”, since that would be more in keeping with the scope of the 
item, which ahould refer both to activities involving risk and to activities 

/ . . . 



A/C.ti/46/SR.23 
English 

Page 17 

(Mr. Jakovides. Cypx-us) 

with harmful effects. With respect to the procedural obligations regarding 
prevention, the obligation of due diligence should be a fundamental obligation 
and, failing agreement through the other methods for the settlement of 
disputes set out in Article 33 of the Charter of the United Nations, a 
compulsory dispute settlement system should be established. To that end, and 
in order to ensure that rule of law among nations acquired real meaning, all 
treaties should include a comprehensive system of third-party dispute 
settlement. 

81. His delegation considered that there should be original State liability 
when individual liability was impossible to determine because the damage had 
been caused by unidentifiable authors. However, whenever possible, there 
should first be redress from the responsible private person and only residual 
State responsibility, 

82. Liability should be extended to cover the concept of "global commons", as 
part of the broad objective of protecting the environment. Given the wide 
divergence of views, it would be wise to defer any decision on the subject. 

83. With respect to chapter VI, his delegation noted that, at the last 
session of the Commission, further progress had been achieved on the question 
of the archives, publications, communications, fiscal immunities and customs 
duties of international organizations. The draft articles that had been 
referred to the Drafting Committee for consideration were in keeping with the 
existing practice of securing the maximum facilities for international 
organisations, ; Abject to the legitimate requirements of the host State. 
There was little doubt that international organizations require inviolability 
and protection, provided that they were not excessive and did not encroach 
unduly on the domain of States. 

84. Chapter VII was devoted to the third report of the Special Rapporteur and 
contained a review of the legal regime of the measures that an injured State 
could take against a State that had committed an internationally wrongful 
act, The Special Rapporteur's report made due reference to the norms of 
jus cogens and erga Omnes obligations. In that regard, reprisals could not 
violate. peremptory norms; that brought into focus the transformation of the 
topic of State responsibility from its traditional context of injury to aliens 
to the context in which the interests of international public order and of the 
international community must be taken into account. The Commission should 
ensure that due account was taken of the expectations of the international 
community and, in particular, States that had gained their independence after 
the classical rules of international law on the topic had been formulated. 

85. With regard to chapter VIII. the Commissioll was lully awat~ of the need 

to keep its programme, procedures and workin methcxl:; under constant review. 
During its forty-third session, particular importance had been attached tu 
consideration of the Commission's long-term programme of work. In the debate 
held during the previous session his delegation had suggested that the 

/ . . . 



A1C.61461SR.23 
English 
Page 18 

(Mr. Jilkovides, Cyorus) 

Commission should consider, in the context of its long-term programme, the 
following issues: the implementation of United Nations resolutions and legal 
consequences arising out of their non-implementation, and the binding nature 
of Security Council resolutions in accordance with Article 25 of the Charter 
and the advisory opinion of the International Court of Justice on Namibia. 
In that respect, he was pleased to note that the Commission had included among 
possible topics for its long-term programme the legal effects of resolutions 
of the United Nations. As the Working Group on the Commission's long-term 
programme of work had noted, the resolutions of international organizations 
had become a fundamental element in the process of evolving rules of 
international law, and some of them often exercised greater influence in 
international relations than treaties. The question of the legal force of 
those resolutions, however, remained controversial. The Working Group 
recommended that, at the outset at least, consideration should be confined to 
resolutions of the United Nations, with emphasis on those of the General 
Assembly and the Security Council, as well as on their degree of binding 
force, their effects, the circumstances of their adoption and their content. 
His delegation strongly urged that the item should be included in the 
Commission's long-term programme of work. Consideration could also be given 
tq the question of the legal content of the notion of jus cogens, or 
peremptory norms of international law, the existence of which had been 
formally recognized in the 1969 Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties. 
That issue had been examined by various experts but had not received a 
detailed analysis in any international forum. 

86. He noted with approval the work carried out by the Drafting Committee and 
the Commission's intention to coordinate its work with that of other United 
Nations institutions, regional organizations and scientific centres that dealt 
with subjects related to the Commission's programme of work. In that regard 
he noted his delegation's suggestion that the Commission should not only 
continue its fruitful cooperation with such regional bodies as the 
Asian-African Legal Consultative Committee, the Inter-American Juridical 
Committee and the European Committee on Legal Cooperation, but should also 
establish contacts and exchange views with the Movement of Non-Aligned 
Countries and the Commonwealth with regard to its work in the legal field. 
The changes in the international situation had given the Movement of 
Non-Aligned Countries greater scope to concentrate on issues and ideas 
relating to international law. Indeed, the United Nations Decade of 
International Law had had its origin in a suggestion by the Movement of 
Non-Aligned Countries. Similarly, the Commonwealth, which represented one of 
the world's principal legal systems, could make a vital collective 
contribution to the development of international law. 

8-i. He noted that the Commission had macle full use of the time and facilities 
available to it during its session. nn3 hi agreed that the usual duration of 

the session should be maintained. Sessions cculd be held without 
interruption, following the Commission's usual practice. or they could be 
divided into two parts, as was the practice in other United Nations bodies, if 
that was thought expedient. 

/ *.. 



A/C.6i46/SR.23 
English 
Page 1Y 

(Mr. Jakovidfa C&u&s) 

88. The twenty-seventh session of the International Law Seminar, dedicated to 
the memory of Paul Reuter, had been held with great success during the 
Commission's forty-third session. Thanks to the collaborative efforts of the 
Goverrment of Brazil the latest Gilbert Amado Memorial Lecture had been 
delivered by the Minister of External Relations of Brazil. 

89. The highlight of the Sixth Committee's work was the annual debate on the 
report of the International Law Commission. International law was constantly 
evolving, and that process must be guided by the Sixth Committee. For that 
reason, and in view of the recent developments in the world, the Sixth 
Committee should give impetus to the application of the rules of international 
law and the resolutions of the United Nations, as well as to the strengthening 
of the mechanism for third-party dispute settlements and to cooperation in 
combating terrorism and drug trafficking and in protecting the environment. 

go. In his address to the General Assembly the President of Cyprus said: "We 
all know that a just world is one where international law is respected and 
applied.' Therefore, we all have an obligation to apply the rule of law and 
the appropriate process of peaceful settlement of disputes, including recourse 
to the International Court of Justice, and to refrain from imposing the will 
of the stronger." Those words expressed the position which Cyprus had always 
maintained, for itself and for the world, on the role of international law in 
the United Nations. 

91, Mr, SUN Lin (China) said that the question of jurisdictional immunities 
of States and their property was a sensitive topic which involved such 
fundamental principles of international law as State sovereignty and the 
equality of sovereign States. After the first reading, the comments by 
Governments had prompted the Committee to take a practical approach and 
produce a text that accommodated the positions of States. His delegation had 
always held the position, which it wished to reiterate, that the purpose of 
devising a legal regime governing jurisdictional immunities of States and 
their property was to reaffirm the principles of international law concerning 
the immunities of States and to enhance their effectiveness. The Commission 
might formulate exceptions to the principle of State immunity in order to 
strike a balance between the need to reduce and prevent the abuse of domestic 
judicial process against sovereign States and the need to find a fair and 
reasonable way of settling disputes. Measured against that criterion, the 
text of the draft articles adopted on second reading could be improved. 

92. His delegation favoured the exclusion, in the definition of "State" in 
article 2, of entities set up by the State to engage in commercial 
transactions which had the capacity to asslune ri:*i 1 liability and to acquire 
and dispose of propc~ Ly. Such Stale ent?11?1 iS;F7:: dllrl CVI FQI at~f~l~~s were legal 
entities with an independent legal p~rsonaIit)-. 

/ . . . 



A1C.61461SR.23 
English 
Page 20 

93. For the same reason, his delegation welcomed the addition of paragraph 3 
in draft arl;icle 10, under which the immunity from jurisdiction enjoyed by a 
State would not be affected in any proceeding which related to a commercial 
transaction engaged in by a State enterprise or other entity which had an 
independent legal personality. That provision would help curb the abuse of 
judicial process against the foreign States to which the enterprises in 
question belonged. 

94. Draft article 5 set out the main principle governing jurisdictional 
immunities of States and their property. His delegation eupported the 
deletion of the phrase “and the relevant L‘ules of general international law”, 
as it could give rise to an unduly liberal interpretation of the draft 
article. 

9s. With regard to the title of pert III, the Chinese delegation had always 
maintained that State .mmunity was 3 fundamental principle of international 
law based on State sovereignty and the sovereign equality of States. The 
alternative “Exceptions to State immunity” was the appropriate choice of 
title. Those who supported the alternative “Limitations on State immunity” 
were arguing that the principle of the jurisdictional immunity of States did 
not exist in international law, an argument that was unacceptable to the 
Chinese delegation. The current title, “Proceedings in which State immunity 
cannot be invoked”, remained unsatisfactory. Both the United States Foreign 
Sovereign Immunities Act of 1976 and the United Kingdom State Immunity Act 

1978 referred to “exceptions”. The Chinese delegation wished to reiterate 
that, while it was necesoary t.o envisage exceptions to the jurisdictional 
immunity of States, such exceptions must be kept. to a minimum that 
corresponded to real needs arising in practice, 

96. For the same reasons, the Chinese delegation supported the deletion from 
the original draft articles of article 16, “Fiscal matters”, and article 20, 
“Cases of nationalisation”. The enactment and enforcement of fiscal 
regulations was the prerogative of sovereign States and fell within the domain 
ol public law. As for cases of nationalieation, such measures taken by a 
State within it3 territory were sovereign acts which did not allow of any 
interference by a foreign court. The treatment of cases of nationalization in 
the original text of the draft articles as exceptions to the principle of 
State immunity was inappropriata. 

97. On the same basis, th\? Chinese delegation continued to object to the 
retention of article 12, “Personal injuries and damage to property”. To allow 
the national court of FI State to determine that. an arrt. was att,ributable ko a 
foroiqn State violatocl khc pt’inc:iplc!s nf SO*;~!I ciqnt,y ;~tlA soverciqn equality. 
To allow proceedings hefore nat;ir,nnl r*o~~rt:: i\rli.4jIlS~ Cl f~~f?i~I~ Sk.i\t.t? WOUltl 

encouroqe irresponsible and ahc~sivn Iittqntinn. f’cvnpensRt.ion for physicnl 
injury to persons or physicat damage t.o property ~orrld he souqht through 
diplomatic channels or through insurance. 



A/C.6/46/8R.23 
English 
Page 21 

98. Part IV dealt with State immunity from measures of constraint in 
connection with proceedings before a court. The position of the Chinese 
delegation was that immunity from measures of constraint against property of a 
State was a principle recognised in the theory of international law and 

‘consecrated by practice in international relations. To allow attachment, 
arrest and execution against property of a foreign State pursuant to a 
judgement by a national court would seriously dirrupt inter-State exchanges 
and cooperation and generate tension in international relations. The Chinese 
delegation supported the basic principle expressed in article 18, that the 
waiver of State immunity from jurisdiction did not mean the waiver of State 
immunity from measures of constraint. 

99. Mr, tACLETA (Spain) said that the term of the Commission’s current 
membership had been brought to a very successful conclusion with the 
completion of the second reading of the draft articles on jurisdictionsi 
immunities of States and their property and the first reading of the draft 
articles on the law of the IIon-navigational uses of international 
watercourses. 

100, Referring specifically to the draft articles on jurisdictional immunities 
of States and their property, the more important of those achievemente, he 
said that Spain welcomed the Commission’s recommendation to the General 
Assembly that the draft articles should be examined by an international 
conference of plenipotentiaries with a view to concluding a convention on the 
subject. While.the draft articles were not perfect, they did offer a suitable 
basis for such an international conference. 

101. The Commission had managed to strike a satisfactory balance in an area in 
which extreme and apparently irreconcilable positions had been taken. The 
first stage of the Commission’s work, in which it had sought simply to reach a 
consensus on the limits to the absolute immunity of the State, had reeulted in 
the formulation of texts in which the traditional principle of immunity was 
circumscribed with precise exceptions, generally worded in an acceptable 
manner , which guaranteed that a private citizen entering into a direct legal 
relationship with a foreign State would not be unprotected or unable to secure 
a judicial ruling in the event of dispute. 

102. It had not been an easy task to reduce the enormous number of cases and 
decisions presented by the Special Rapporteurs and considered by the 
Commission to the eight articles of part III, which contained the exceptions 
to the fundamental principle of immunity. The interests of States, including 
those of the developing States, and those of individuals had been considered, 
as had the problem of t.he special CRI:CZ of diplomnt if* and consular 

representations. 

103. In his contribution to the discussion of the report of the Commission on 
the work of its thirty-eighth session he had indicated thot the Commission did 
not appear to have considered either the issue of how a State invoked immunity 

/ . . . 



A/C.6/46/SR.23 
English 
Page 22 

(Mr.I,acleta.SDain) 

in the courts of another State or the issue of the authority called upon to 
decide, in the event of a dispute, whether in a specifir! case the principle of 
immunity should prevail or whether one of the permitted exceptions should 

apply l 
It was the current practice of some States for such a decision to be 

the responsibility of the judge of the State whose jurisdiction was in 
question (the State of the forum) and any challenge had to be settled in 
accordance with the legal rules of that State. In other words, it was the 
court of the State whose jurisdiction had been challenged which was 
responsible for the decision. Ia his delegation’s opinion, a dispute of that 
nature constituted an international dispute and should be dealt with as such. 
It was true that the Commission had considered the question of how a State 
could invoke immunity, but articles 6, 8, 20 and 21, even when read in 
conjunct ion, as was necessary, did not solve the probion, in a satisfactory 
manner, 

104. A satisfactory solution could be provided only k a mechanism on the 
settlement of disputes which, as indicated in paragraph 26 of the report, the 
Commission considered could be looked at by the future conference of 
plenipotentiaries. 

105, ML,GPPE;T (Observer for Switzerland) said that the draft articles on 
jurisdictional immunities of States and their property formed a sound basis 
for the work of the conference of plenipotentiaries recommended by the 
Cuinmis’sion. The proposed text would facilitate the universal embodiment of 
the trend in international law to limit, on the one hand, cases in which a 
State could invoke immunity before foreign courts and, on the other hand, the 
execution ofjudgements rendered against a State. The Commission’s final text 
on immunity from jurisdiction was closely modelled on the solutions contained 
in the European Convention on State Immunity and, to a certain extent, 
combined the concepts of absolute and relative immunity. His delegation 
agreed with the general thrust of the principles set forth in parts II and III 
of the draft. On the other hand, it believed that the Commission’s text on 
immunity from execution overly limited the power to apply exceptions to a 
State’s property. While part III of the text devoted eight articles 
exclusively to cases in which immunity from jurisdiction could not be invoked, 
only two provisions appearing in part IV dealt with State immunity from 
measures of constrnint, Thus, in that regard, the draft was somewhat 
imbelanced. In his delegation’s view, immunity from execution should follow 
from immunity from jurisdiction, of r.?*ich it was a corollary. While the 
Commission’s draft did indeed contemplate exceptions to the general principle 
of immunity from measures of consLraint, they were weak and allowed States too 
many opport.unities to claim immunity from execut ir)ri. 

106. U*-der article 2, paragraph 1 (1.~1 ( ii ) , t.11r? t;clrm “State” irlcludecl the 
constituent units of a federal St.at.Cl. Thr? (:omnli:;:; iorl harl irlcluded that- 
provision in order to take irtt:o ac:corlttt. t:.he specia!. situation of some federal 
sys terns whose constituent units enjoyed the same immunities as B State but 
could not, on that basis, exercise sovereign authority. The scope of 



A/C.6/46/8R.23 
English 
Page 23 

(Mr. Co&t. QBaerver, SwiW) 

application of that proviaion was very broad, as it empowered all the 
constituent units of a federal State, without any distinction whatsoever, to 
invoke immunity. His delegation would have praferrdi a draft based on 
article 28 of the European Convention on State Immunity, which cor,firmd that 
individual states in a federal State did not enjoy immunity, while authorising 
the fecbral State to formulate a declaration indicating that those individual 
states could iWoke the provieions of the Convention. 

107, The Commission had decided to deleta the reference to the relevant rules 
of international law which had appeared in square brackete in the text of 
article 5 adopted on first reading, as it believed that any immunity or 
exception to the rule of immunity under the draft articles would have no 
effect on either general international law or the future development of State 
practice. While it was true that the draft articles elaborated by the 
Commission would not prevent the development of international law if their 
provisions were subsequently incorporated into a convention, the deletion of 
the refe.ence in question would enable those States which became parties to 
the instrument to oppose the application of future international law, which 
seemed to be tending towards a growing limitation of immunity. 

108. Under paragraph 2 (a) of draft articla 10, commercial transactions 
between States were immune from jurisdiction, which was an exception to the 
principle set forth in paragraph 1 of that draft article. The commentary by 
the Commission stated that the expression “commercial transactions between 
States” indicated a transaction which involved all agencies or 
instrumentalities of the State within the meaning of paragraph 1 (b) of 
article 2. Certainly, the fact that commercial transactions effected by a 
State agency were not subject to the jurisdiction of the State of the forum 
must be recognised. Since in SOIIIQ countries whole sectors of economic 
activity were controlled by the public sector, the scope of the exception 
should have been limited, 

109. Referring to exceptions to the rule that States were not immune from 
jurisdiction relating to contracts of employment, he said that, even if, in 
principle, the hypothesis set forth in paragraph 2 (c) of draft article 11 
rarely arose, the fact remained that the employee who at the time of entering 
into the contract of employment was neither a national nor a resident of the 
State of the forum ran the risk of being denied a:r legal protection. 

110. Article 16, paragraph 1, stated the principle that ships owned or 
operated by a State which were “used for other than non-government 
non-commercial purposes’* could not invoke immunity from jurisdiction. From 
that it could be inferred that the provision did not apply to ships used 
exclusively on government non-commercial service, and the additional 
information contained in paragraph 2 therefore seemed redundant. Moreover, 
the phrase “other than government non-commercial purposes” had been introduced 
on second reading in paragraphs 1 and 4 in order to eliminate the problem of 
the dual criterion of “commercial and non-governmental” and “governmental 

/ . . . 



A/C.G/46/SR,23 
English 
Pago 24 

and non-commercial” use. However, the problem had not totally vanished, for 
the question of the government and non-commercial character of a ship arose 
again in paragraph 7. 

111. He reiterated that the exceptions to the principle of State immunity from 
measures of constraint (art. 18) were limited in the extreme. Moreover, 
article 19 greatly inhibited their scope in listing various categories of 
State property which were not subject to any metisures of execution. Further, 
since as a result of the infelicitous introduction, on second reading, of the 
word "specifically" the list of categories of property was not exhaustive, 
part IV of the draft articles obviously offered States countless opportunities 
to invoke immunity from execution, 

AGENDA ITEM 1253 MEASURES TO PREVENT IN'A'ERNATIONAL TERRORISM WHICH ENDANGERS 
OR TAKES INNOCENT HUMAN LIVES OR JEOPARDIZES FUNDAMENTAL FREEDOMS AND STUDY OF 
THE UNDERLYING CAUSES OF THOSE FORMS OF TERRORISM AND ACTS OF VIOLENCE WHICH 
LIE IN MISERY, FRUSTRATION, GRIEVANClr; AND DESPAIR AND WHICH CAWE SOME PEOPLE 
TO SACRIFICE HUMAN LIVES, INCLUDING THEIR OWN, IN AN ATTEMPT TO EFFECT RADICAL 
CHANGES (A/C.6/46/~.4) 

(a) REPORT OF THE SECRETARY-GENERAL 

(b) CONVENING, UNDER THE AUSPrCES OF THE UNITED NATIONS, OF AN INTERNATIONAL 
CONFERENCE TO DEFINE TERRORISM AND TO DIFFERENTIATE IT FROM THE STRIJW .E 
OF PEOPLES FOR NATIONAL LIBERATION 

112. mm said that following broad-based, lengthy consultations on 
the draft resolution to be adopted on international terrorism a consensus had 
been reached on the text set out in document A/C.ti/46/L.4. If he heard no 
objection, he would submit the text for the Committee's consideration at the 
meeting on Thursday, 31 October, at which time a decision would be taken. 

113. It was so u. 


